# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No.

J.B. PARKER,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM DENIAL OF CONSOLIDATED MOTION TO VACATE JUDGMENT AND SENTENCES BY THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA, IN AND FOR MARTIN COUNTY.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

PROSKAUER ROSE GOETZ & MENDELSOHN Attorneys for Appellant 300 Park Avenue New York, New York 10022 (212) 909-7000

#

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, J.B. Parker, respectfully submits this brief on appeal from the denial of his emergency application for stay of execution and his motion pursuant to Rule 3.850 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, dated September 28, 1989, and his supplement to that motion, dated October 6, 1989. On August 29, 1989, Governor Martinez signed the first death warrant against Mr. Parker. Mr. Parker is currently scheduled to be executed on October 27, 1989 at 7:00 a.m.

In his Rule 3.850 motion and his supplement thereto, Mr. Parker raised numerous substantial claims of fundamental constitutional errors during his trial and post-conviction proceedings, which establish that he is entitled to relief. The court below erred in summarily denying Mr. Parker's application for a stay of execution and Rule 3.850 motion on primarily procedural grounds. Mr. Parker's claims deserve, at the very least, consideration on their merits by the state courts of Florida. Accordingly, this Court should immediately stay Mr. Parker's scheduled execution in order to afford Mr. Parker his constitutional right to the full and fair consideration of his claims by this Court.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

For the procedural history of this case prior to August 29, 1989, and a statement of the facts underlying the claims raised in Mr. Parker's motion pursuant to Rule 3.850 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, the denial of which is appealed here, Mr. Parker respectfully refers this Court to his Rule 3.850 motion dated September 28, 1989, and the supplement thereto dated October 6, 1989.

Governor Martinez signed the death warrant ·· the first against Mr. Parker -- on August 29, 1989. (Q 34). Î

The death warrant directs the Superintendent of the Florida

State Prison to schedule Mr. Parker's execution for "some day of the week beginning noon, Thursday, the 26th day of

October, 1989, and ending noon, Thursday, the 2nd day of

November, 1989." The Superintendent has scheduled Mr.

Parker's execution for 7:00 A.M. on Friday, October 27, 1989, less than sixty days after the date on which the warrant was signed, and less than forty-eight hours after his appeal is scheduled to be heard.

On September 28, 1989, Mr. Parker filed a Rule

3.850 motion and emergency application for stay of execution

References to the record on appeal of the denial of this Rule 3.850 motion are indicated by "Q \_\_"; references to the record on the direct appeal of Mr. Parker's conviction and sentences are indicated by "R \_\_."

in the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Martin County. (Q 1-30). On October 6, 1989, Mr. Parker filed a factual supplement to the claims raised in his Rule 3.850 motion, including the claim that, during the penalty phase proceedings of his trial, he was deprived of his constitutional right to the effective assistance of the psychologist appointed to assist defense counsel. (Q 327-349).

On October 5, 1989, Chief Judge Dwight L. Geiger of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit Court ordered the State to respond to Mr. Parker's Rule 3.850 motion by October 9, 1989, stating that he was "unable to say from examination of that motion that the motion, files, and records of the case conclusively show that the defendant is entitled to no relief . . . . . . . . . (Q 326).

On October 11, 1989, Judge Geiger signed an order in which he summarily denied the claims raised in Mr.

Parker's Rule 3.850 motion. This order stated that defendant had 30 days to appeal the order. (Q 665-667). Mr. Parker's undersigned counsel did not receive this order until October 13, 1989, when it also first received the State's response to Mr. Parker's Rule 3.850 motion ("the Response"). (Q 606-663).

On October 13, 1989 the Circuit Court amended its order denying the Rule 3.850 motion, to provide that defendant had not 30, but 3 days to appeal the order. (Q 669A). The Circuit Court clerk mailed a copy of this order to defendant's counsel, who did not receive it until October 16, 1989.

а

а

On the afternoon of October 16, 1989, appellant filed a motion for rehearing in the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit Court. (Q 707-722). That court denied the motion for rehearing on the same day it was filed. (Q 669). A notice of appeal of the denial of Mr. Parker's Rule 3.850 motion was filed in the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit Court on October 16, 1989. (Q 670-671).

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I: Mr. Parker's execution, scheduled for Friday October 27 1989, should be immediately and indefinitely stayed in order to permit this Court to consider and decide this appeal of Mr. Parker's Rule 3.850 motion in a full, fair and rational manner. The trial court's inadequate review process has left insufficient time for this Court's reasoned consideration of this appeal. A stay of execution is also mandated because the motion satisfies the standards for an evidentiary hearing and the full consideration of the claims on their merits by the trial court, thus requiring a

remand to the trial court so that it can conduct the necessary hearing on Mr. Parker's claims.

pOINT 11: During the voir dire of prospective jurors at Mr. Parker's trial, the State Attorneys used their peremptory challenges to exclude every black potential juror. Although Mr. Parker's trial counsel made timely and non-frivolous objections to these challenges, the trial court overruled the objections without requiring the State to explain its actions. This violated Mr. Parker's rights under the Florida Constitution, see State v. Slappy, 522 So. 2d 18 (Fla.) cert. denied, 108 S. Ct 2873 (1988), and the United States Constitution, see Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986), Swain v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 202 (1965); Holland v. Illinois, cert. granted, 44 Crim. L. Rptr. 4192, 4193 (March 8, 1989).

POINT 111: Prior to testifying at the penalty phase of Mr. Parker's trial, Mr. Parker's court-appointed mental health expert completely failed to conduct a competent mental health evaluation of Mr. Parker, which directly resulted in inadequate support for the expert's conclusions and an utter inability to withstand the prosecutor's cross-examination. Mr. Parker was thus denied his right to the effective assistance of a mental health expert in violation of the Florida and United States Constitutions. See Ake v.

Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68 (1985); State v. Sireci, 502 So. 2d 1221 (Fla. 1987).

POINT IV: The State Attorneys' comments throughout the guilt and penalty phase proceedings and the trial court's instructions during the penalty phase informed the jury that it had no choice but to impose the death penalty if the mitigating circumstances did not outweigh the aggravating circumstances. This deprived Mr. Parker of an individualized and reliable determination of whether death was the appropriate sanction in his case in violation of his rights under the Florida and United States Constitutions. This precise issue will be addressed during the current term of the United States Supreme Court. See Blvstone v.

Pennsylvania, cert. granted, 109 S. ct. 1567 (1989); Bovde v.
California, cert. granted, 109 S. Ct. 2447 (1989).

POINT V: The State Attorneys' comments throughout the guilt and penalty phase proceedings and the trial court's instructions during the penalty phase resulted in placing the burden of proof on Mr. Parker to show that death was not the appropriate sentence in his case by requiring that he establish that any mitigating circumstances outweighed any aggravating circumstances. This deprived Mr. Parker of his right to due process as guaranteed by the Florida and United States Constitutions. See, e.g., Jackson v. Dugger, 837 F.2d 1469 (11th Cir.), cert. denied, 108 S. Ct. 2005 (1988);

Adamson v. Ricketts, 865 F.2d 1011 (9th Cir., 1988) (en banc), petition for certiorari pending, 57 U.S.L.W. 3655 Docket No. 88-1553, March 20, 1989).

0

a

a

POINT VI: Because the jury at the penalty phase of Mr. Parker's trial voted 8 to 4 to recommend imposing the death penalty on Mr. Parker, it cannot be determined whether the jury unanimously found at least one statutory aggravating circumstance. This violated Mr. Parker's rights under the Florida and United States Constitutions to a jury trial. See Adamson v. Ricketts, supra.

POINT VII: Throughout Mr. Parker's trial, the State Attorneys told the jury that sympathy was not a relevant consideration in determining the appropriateness of death as a sanction. This effectively precluded Mr. Parker's sentencers from considering record-based mitigating evidence in violation of his rights under the Florida and United States Constitution. See Parks v. Brown, 860 F.2d 1545 (10th Cir., 1988) (en banc), cert. aranted sub nom, Saffle v. Parks, 109 S. Ct. 1930 (1989).

POINT VIII: In response to Mr. Parker's request to the State Attorney for access to files and records pursuant to section 119.01 of the Florida Statutes, the State Attorney initially refused to disclose his files without placing unwarranted and unreasonable conditions on their disclosure, and only agreed to their full disclosure after a death

warrant was signed against Mr. Parker. The State Attorney's unwillingness to provide Mr. Parker immediate and unconditional access to his files and records was in violation of the Florida Statutes, see Bludworth v. Palm Beach Newpapers, Inc., 476 So. 2d 775 (4th Dist. 1985), rev. denied, 488 So. 2d 67 (Fla. 1986), and effectively precluded Mr. Parker from determining whether his conviction or sentence were obtained in violation of his due process rights as guaranteed by the Florida and United States Constitutions, see Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

#### ARGUMENT

## POINT I

# THIS COURT SHOULD IMMEDIATELY STAY MR. PARKER'S SCHEDULED EXECUTION

A. In the Absence of the Immediate Entry of an Indefinite Stay of Execution, Mr.

Parker Will Be Deprived of A Full And Fair Opportunity To Have His Claims Heard In A Reasoned And Proper Manner By This Court

The trial court erred in failing to grant Mr. Parker's emergency application for a stay of execution. In light of the insufficient time remaining before execution for rational consideration of this appeal, an immediate and indefinite stay of execution should be entered.

This Court should not be forced to consider and decide Mr. Parker's substantial claims of constitutional violations under the extraordinary pressures of an imminent execution. The laws of Florida and the United States

Constitution do not favor making decisions crucial to life or death in such an exigent atmosphere. See, e.g., Michel v.

Louisiana, 350 U.S. 91, 93 (1955) (due process requires a "'reasonable opportunity to have the issue as to the claimed right heard and determined by the state court'" quoting

Parker v. Illinois, 333 U.S. 571, 574 (1948)).

This Court has previously entered stays of execution in other cases in order to permit full and fair consideration of claims presented during the pendency of a death warrant. See, e.g, Riley v. Wainwright, 517 So. 2d 656 (Fla. 1987); Groover v. State, 489 So. 2d 15 (Fla. 1986); Copeland v. State, 457 So. 2d 1012 (Fla. 1984), cert. denied, 471 U.S. 1030 (1985); Spaziano v. State, 489 So. 2d 720 (Fla.), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 995 (1986). This Court should exercise its authority to stay Mr. Parker's execution pending its consideration of the substantial and meritorious claims raised on this appeal. As then Justice, now Chief Justice Ehrlich stated in his concurring opinion in Clark v. State, Case No. 72303 (Fla. April 26, 1988):

I shall always vote for a stay of execution in order to give each member of this court adequate time to review the documents and arrive at a decision on the merits. I thoroughly eschew having to deal with these momentous decisions of life and death on an emergency basis. When confronted with the decision of whether to grant a stay of execution or see colleagues have to vote when they are really not prepared to do so, I shall always vote to stay.

B. Mr. Parker's Rule 3.850 Motion Satisfies The Standards For Granting A Stay of Execution And An Evidentiary Hearing

The standard for granting a stay of execution are well established. A stay of execution ought to be granted when the defendant presents facts in his Rule 3.850 motion indicating that he "might be" entitled to relief, State v. Schaeffer, 467 So. 2d 698, 699 (Fla. 1985), and demonstrates that the motion or "files and records in the case" do not "conclusively show that the defendant is entitled to no relief." State v. Crews, 477 So. 2d 984, 985 (Fla. 1985) (denying State's motion to vacate a stay of execution entered by the trial court); see O'Callaghan v. State, 461 So. 2d 1354, 1355 (Fla. 1985); Lemon v. State, 498 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1986). A stay of execution is appropriate when the petitioner has presented colorable and non-frivolous issues, Brooker v. Wainwright, 675 F.2d 1150 (11th Cir. 1982), cert. denied, 464 U.S. 922 (1983), or claims which are "debatable among jurists of reason." Barefoot v. Estelle, 463 U.S. 880, 893 n.4 (1983).

Mr. Parker's Rule 3.850 motion readily met those requirements. Given the substantial constitutional claims Mr. Parker raised, the court below could not rightfully conclude that the motion, files or records "conclusively show[ed]" that Mr. Parker was entitled to no relief. Under such circumstances, a stay of execution was and is mandated

to permit the Court below to give full and fair consideration to Mr. Parker's claims on the merits.

Furthermore, because an evidentiary hearing on Mr. Parker's claims was and is warranted, so is a stay of his scheduled execution. In enunciating the standard for determining whether the allegations in a Rule 3.850 motion in a capital case are sufficient to require a stay of execution and an evidentiary hearing, this Court held in O'Callaghan v. State, 462 So. 2d 1354 (Fla. 1985):

The question that must first be resolved is whether the allegations made by O'Callaghan were sufficient to require an evidentiary hearing. . . The law is clear that under Rule 3.850 procedure, a movant is entitled to an evidentiary hearina unless the motion or files and records in the case conclusively show that the movant is entitled to no relief.

## **461 So.** 2d at **1355-56** (emphasis added).

Because the "motion or files and records" in this case do not "conclusively show" that Mr. Parker is entitled to no relief, an evidentiary hearing is required. This Court should thus stay Mr. Parker's execution and remand for a hearing and full and fair consideration of Mr. Parker's claims on their merits.

C. A Stay of Execution is Warranted Pending the United States Supreme Court's Decisions in <u>Blvstone v. Pennsylvania</u>, <u>Bovde v. California</u> and Saffle v. Parks

One of Mr. Parker's claims in his Rule 3.850 motion and on this appeal is that prosecutorial comments and jury instructions violated Mr. Parker's Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to reliable and individualized sentencing by requiring the jury to recommend the death penalty for Mr. Parker if it found at least one statutory aggravating circumstance which was not outweighed by mitigating circumstances. See infra Pont IV. In Bovde v. California, 109 S. Ct. 2447 (1989), and Blystone v. Pennsylvania, 109 S. Ct. 1567 (1989), the United States Supreme Court recently granted petitions for certiorari in order to decide this precise constitutional issue. Accordingly, a stay of execution ought to be granted in this case until the Supreme Court renders its decisions in Blystone and Bovde.

In <u>Saffle v. Parks</u>, **109** S. Ct. **1930** (**1989**), the United States Supreme court will address the constitutional infirmities presented by actions at a capital trial that impel the jury to exclude sympathy for the defendant as a relevant consideration in the penalty phase. This issue is also presented in Mr. Parker's Rule **3.850** motion and on this appeal.

A human being should not be put to death when the very legal issues that will decide whether his execution comports with the Constitution will soon be conclusively resolved by the United States Supreme Court. This moral and legal principle has been followed by this Court. Thus, when Hitchcock v. Dusser, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), was pending before the Supreme Court on certiorari review, this Court granted stays of execution to defendants who raised Hitchcock claims pending the Supreme Court's ruling. See, e.g., Riley v. Wainright, 517 So. 2d 656 (Fla. 1987). Just as the United States Supreme Court in Hitchcock rendered a decision on the constitutional issue favorably for Riley, it may do so for Mr. Parker in Blystone, Saffle and Boxde. This consideration, as well as judicial economy, mandates a stay of Mr. Parker's scheduled execution.

### POINT II

THE STATE'S USE OF PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES
TO STRIKE EVERY BLACK POTENTIAL JUROR, AND
THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE: TO CONDUCT AN ADEQUATE
INQUIRY INTO THE REASONS FOR THOSE CHALLENGES,
VIOLATED MR. PARKER'S RIGHTS UNDER ARTICLE I,
SECTION 16(a) OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, AND
UNDER THE SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH
AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION

A. The Trial Court's Failure To Require
The State To Demonstrate Non-Discriminatory
Reasons For Its Peremptory Challenges
Violated The Florida And Federal
Constitutions

During the voir dire at the guilt phase of the trial, the State exercised nine peremptory challenges. Four of these challenges served to exclude each of the black potential jurors called to the box. As a result, there were no black members of the jury. Following each of the last three peremptory challenges by the State to a black prospective juror, defense counsel offered timely and relevant objections. R 335, 443-44, 454.

After the State's second peremptory challenge of a black prospective juror, defense counsel (Robert Makemson) objected in a timely manner:

MR. MAKEMSON: I want something I want to put on

the record. Mrs. Fielding was the

second black witness.

THE COURT: Not witness, juror.

MR. MAKEMSON: That has been peremptory challenged

by the State. I would object that

the State is systematically excluding the blacks from this jury

panel by use of peremptory challenges, systematically

excluding them. That's my Motion.

THE COURT: I see no systematic exclusion

besides I don't know if there is a law that says that he couldn't systematically excuse them, if he

wanted to.

MR. STONE: I don't need to state the reason.

R 335.

This exchange constituted the only discussion, at any stage of the proceedings, regarding the peremptory excusal of the first two black prospective jurors. No explanation as to the State's reasons for either challenge was ever required by the trial court or offered by the State.

Subsequently, the State peremptorily challenged a third black juror, Miss Johnson, and defense counsel again made a timely objection:

MR. MAKEMSON: For the record, I believe that Mr.

Stone has now excused the third black juror. I would say or suggest that this is a systematic exclusion of blacks from the jury. And I would ask for a mistrial based

upon the fact that he has

systematically excluded the blacks and I ask for a whole new jury panel

to be brought in.

MR. STONE: I haven't excluded anybody. I have

used my peremptory challenges. We don't have to give a reason for it.

Just like I could say, he

systematically excluded all of the

men on there.

MR. MAKEMSON: I want the record to reflect that

every black juror that has been called has been excused by the State, peremptory challenged by the

State.

I think the record shows that. MR. STONE:

MR. MAKEMSON: But it doesn't show on the panel

right now.

THE COURT: There is in the jury box. It looks

like a half dozen others sitting in

the audience.

MR. MAKEMSON: I just want to make my position

clear. This is a systematic exclusion of blacks.

THE COURT: All right. The Court, of course,

since the last such Motion has observed interrogation of Miss Johnson at this time and the Court

noticed a hesitancy, ... in

answering questions about capital

punishment.

MR. MAKEMSON: She may have hesitated but she

qualified and said that she could follow the law. Mr. Stone didn't ask a whole lot of questions about

that.

THE COURT: A long time ago when I tried cases,

I never cared that they answered, I was questioning how they answered. That's what scares off people.

MR. MAKEMSON: Hesitancy means she is thinking,

trying to give an honest answer, is

an interpretation.

WHEREUPON, CONFERENCE ENDED AT THE BENCH.

THE COURT: Miss Johnson, you may step down. Again, as with the first two peremptory challenges of black jurors, the court never required the State to give, nor did the State offer, any explanation for its peremptory challenge of Miss Johnson. The trial court, in response to defense counsel's objection, merely offered its own speculative analysis of why the juror was challenged and, after defense counsel responded, the court evaluated the credibility of its own explanation.<sup>2</sup>

Indeed the court's speculation concerning the possible basis for the State's peremptory challenge of Miss Johnson is not supported by the record. Miss Johnson had clearly stated her commitment to follow the law and her willingness to apply the death penalty if the circumstances so warranted. R 433. In fact, the record shows that at least one white juror who evidenced a similar hesitancy with respect to the death penalty was not challenged by the State

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