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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- 1. Appellant is not entitled to a stay of execution as he has not established that any claim entitled him to relief.
- 2. The trial court properly found this claim to be procedurally barred as it was resolved on direct appeal and because Appellant should have raised this claim in his prior Rule 3.850. The trial court properly found this claim to be procedurally barred as Appellant should have raised it in his prior rule 3.850.
- 3. The trial court properly found this claim to be procedurally barred on various grounds. Furthermore Appellant was afforded the expertise of a mental health expert.
- 4. Appellant's claim that both prosecutorial comments and jury instructions created a mandatory presumption of death is procedurally barred. These claims should have been raised on either direct appeal or Appellant's prior motion for post-conviction relief. Furthermore the challenged statements were a proper explanation and instruction of the capital-sentencing scheme.
- 5. The trial court properly denied relief on the grounds that this claim should have been sought on direct appeal and on the Appellant's motion prior to post-conviction. The court also properly found that this claim is without merit as there is no right to a jury trial at capital sentencing. As such there is also no right to an unanimous jury verdict for each aggravating factor found to exist.

- 6. Appellant's claim that the prosecutor's statement amounted to impermissible anti-sympathy comments is procedurally barred. Appellant could and should have raised this error on either direct appeal or in his prior motion for post-conviction relief.
- 7, Appellant is procedurally barred from raising this claim at this time as it should have been raised in his prior Rule 3.850. Furthermore the claim has no merit as Appellant has been given access to the State' files.

ISSUE I

APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO A STAY OF EXECUTION

Appellant's claims lacks merit both procedurally and substantively. This Court should deny his motion for a stay of execution and affirm the trial court's order denying relief. A stay of execution...should not be regarded as an automatic remedy granted simply upon request, Mulliquan v. Zant, 531 F.Supp. 459, 460 (M.D. Ga. 1984), inasmuch as the State has a legitimate interest in the finality of all litigation, including capital ligitation. Witt v. State, 387 So.2d 922, 925 (Fla. 1980), cert. denied, 449 U..S. 1067 (1981). In otherwords "justice, though due to the accused, is due to the accuser also," Snyder v. Massachusetts, 291 U.S. 97, 122 (1934), and "justice delayed is justice denied," United States ex rel. Geislerv. Walters, 510 F.2d 887, 893 (3rd Cir. 1975).

Appellant has failed to establish that he "might be" entitled to relief on any of his claims. Appellant's claims lack any merit whatsoever. More importantly all of Appellant's claims are procedurally barred, precluding any determination of their merits.

Appellant claims a stay is further warranted because of the United States Supreme Court's acceptance of certiorari review in People v. Boyle, 758 P.2d 25 (Cal. 1988) (en banc) and Commonwealth v. Blystone, 540 A. 2d 81 (Pa. 1988).

Appellee relies on the argument under those issues in this brief to urge denial of a stay by this Court.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED RELIEF ON VARIOUS PROCEDURAL GROUNDS, IN THE ALTERNATIVE THERE IS NO "NEIL VIOLATION"

Defendant has initially challenged the State's exercise of peremptory challenges to strike black jurors, in violation of alleged "new" Florida case law. This claim is procedurally barred and without substantive merit. It amounts to no more than deliberate re-litigation, under the pretense of "new law", of claims already resolved against Parker.

This exact issue was raised by supplemental brief during Appellant's direct appeal, involving the same jurors that Appellant addresses in his present motion. The Florida Supreme Court specifically concluded after examination of the Record, that Appellant did not meet the threshold requirement under State v. Neil, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1989), of a prima demonstration that the State's exercise of peremptory challenges was purely racially motivated and was designed to systematically exclude blacks from Parker's jury. Parker v. State, 476 So.2d 134, 137, 138 (Fla. 1985). Since this issue was already raised and resolved against Appellant during his direct appeal, the trial court properly determined that it is barred from merits consideration at this time. Woods v. State, 531 So.2d 79 (Fla. 1980); Johnson v. State, 522 So.2d 356 (Fla. 1988); Gorham v. State, 521 So.2d 1067 (Fla. 1988). Jefferson

Defendant's peremptory challenge claim, is further barred because it was not raised in Appellant's initial Rule 3.850 motion, filed in December, 1987. The governing language of Rule 3.850, supra, states in relevant part:

A second or successive motion may be dismissed, if new and different grounds are alleged, the judge finds that the failure of the movant or his attorney to assert those grounds in a prior motion constituted an abuse of the procedure governed by these rules.

Under this aspect of the rule, new claims in second postconviction relief motions are barred, unless such grounds were
not known or conceivably discoverable at the time the <u>first</u> postconviction motion was filed, there was demonstrated "cause",
for the failure to make the claims in the <u>initial</u> motion. <u>Harich</u>
v. State, 542 So.2d 980 (Fla. 1988); <u>Tafero v. State</u>, 524 So.2d
987 (Fla. 1987); <u>Hathcock v. State</u>, 505 So.2d 649 (Fla. 4th DCA
1987); <u>Stewart v. State</u>, 495 So.2d 164, 165 (Fla. 1986);
Christopher v. State, 488 So.2d 22, 24 (Fla. 1986); <u>Witt v.</u>
State, 465 So.2d 510, 512 (Fla. 1985).

These considerations clearly operate to bar Appellant's peremptory challenge claim here. The facts, including references to the State's conducting of pretrial voir dire were clearly known in December 1987, when the initial post-conviction motion was filed before this Court. Furthermore, the basis for the Florida Supreme Court's decision in State v. Slappy, 522 So.2d 18

(Fla. 1988), on both a State and Federal level, had been issued well before the filing of the first motion. Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986) (decided April 30, 1986); State v. Neil, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984) (decided September 27, 1984). Appellant can not legitimately maintain that he was unaware of the legal or factual basis for his peremptory challenge claims at the time of his first motion. His decision to omit such a claim then bars its consideration on the merits Stewart, supra; now. Christopher, supra; Witt, supra. Further Appellant's failure to raise this claim within two years of the Batson decision provides an additional procedural bar, to consideration of the merits of the claim. Adams v. State, 543 So.2d 1244, 1247; 1247, n.3 (Fla. 1989).

Appellant attempts to circumvent the procedural bar triggered under Stewart, supra, and successive motions by claiming that Slappy, supra represents a constitutional and fundamental change in the law. This argument is without merit as this court has already held in Neil itself that the change represented in Neil would be prospective under Witt v. State, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla.) cert. denied, 449 U.S. 1067, 101 S.Ct 796, 66 LEd. 2162 (1980). Neil, 457 So.2d at 488. The United States Supreme Court has held that Batson, supra would also be applied prospectively based on the identical factors announced in Witt, supra. Allen v. Hardy, 478 U.S. 255, 259 (1986); Teaque v. Lane, 103 LEd. 2d 334, 336 (1989). Prospective application of Neil was reiterated by this Court in State v. Safford, 484 So.2d 1244

(Fla. 1986). The logical conclusion is that if Neil was applied prospectively then Slappy must be prospective as well. Slappy cannot in any conceivable way be viewed as a constitutional and fundamental change from the Neil test. This court has characterized Slappy as 1) a clarification of Neil, Roundtree v. State, 546 So.2d 1042 (Fla. 1989); 2) an affirmance of the spirit and intent of Neil, Slappy, 522 So.2d at 21; and 3) further definition of the procedure to be utilized when a challenge is made to use of peremptories, Tillman v. State, 522 So.2d 14, 16 (Fla. 1988). The change (not of a constitutional nature) took place when this Court abandoned Swain v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 202 (1965). Neil, 457 So. 2d at 485-486. This Court in Slappy viewed favorably the Third District's results as being in harmony with Batson and Neil. Slappy, 522 So.2d at 23. Slappy offers further guidance to trial courts in making a determination as to the existence vel non of racially motivated challenges. Contrary to Appellant's assertion otherwise a Defendant must still make a prima facie showing that a likelihood of discrimination exists. Slappy, 522 So.2d 22. The fact that the Defendant is given the benefit of the doubt in this determination can hardly be characterized as a major change of constitutional impact. Witt, 3837 So.2d at 929.

Retroactive application of <u>Slappy</u> would result in the same incredible hardships that would have resulted if <u>Neil</u> were to be applied retroactively:

The difficulty of trying to second-guess records that do not meet the standards set out here in as well as the extensive reliance on the previous statements make retroactive application a virtual impossible

<u>Id</u> at **488.** Appellant's claim was already made on direct appeal. <u>Parker</u>, **476** So.2d at **138.** Appellant has not advanced any credible argument to warrant a reversal of this Court's earlier conclusions:

Although Parker has that the challenged prospective jurors belonged to a 'distinct racial group', it is clear from this record that he failed to demonstrate 'a strong likelihood' that these prospective jurors were challenged solely on basis of their race. This record does not reveal the likelihood of requisite discrimination to require an injury by the trial court and a shifting of the burden to the State. In fact, we find this record reflects nothing more than a normal jury selection process.

Neil 476 So.2d at 138-139.

Trial counsel's conclusory objection to the State's exclusion of Fielding, Johnson and Williams does not demonstrate a prima facie likelihood of discrimination. <u>Parker</u> 476 So.2d at 138. Appellant's initial objection was to the exclusion of Mrs. Fielding (R 335). Appellant did not advance any other reason to meet his burden other than she was black. None of this Court's

decisions has ever held that to be sufficient to shift the burden to the State. [During questioning Mrs. Fielding stated that her son-in-law was a fruit picker (R 279)]. When Appellant objected to the excusal of Mrs. Johnson the trial court stated that he noticed a very definite hesitancy in her answers to questions concerning capital punishment (R 444). Parker 476 So.2d at 138. The trial court's stated observations were appropriate in light of the fact that counsel asked the court to find a systematic exclusion of blacks (R 444). In other words the trial court was explaining why he found no systematic exclusion of blacks which would warrant a shifting of the burden to the State. He further stated since Appellant's last motion the trial observing the interrogation of Miss Johnson (R 443-444). It's important to note that counsel acknowledged Johnson's hesitancy although he characterized it differently then the trial The Assistant State Attorney confirmed that all court (R **444).** challenges were based on the way people answered, their attitude, demeanor and many many things (R 456-457). Prospective juror Williams was also properly excused due to the hardship jury relief would cause, her indecisiveness on issues of capital punishment and her children (R 455). Furthermore she had asked to be excused. Parker 476 So.2d at 138.

Appellant has not put forth any legal reason to distribute this Court's previous findings on direct appeal.

ISSUE III

TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S "AKE CLAIM" ON PROCEDURAL GROUNDS, FURTHER-MORE APPELLANT RECEIVED ASSISTANCE OF AN EFFECTIVE MENTAL HEALTH EXPERT

Appellant claims that he was denied the effective assistance of a mental health expert. This claim is based, on the allegedly deficient performance, of Dr. Paul Eddy. Dr. Eddy was appointed, and testified on Appellant's behalf at the sentencing phase. This claim is procedurally barred, has no merit, and appears to be designed merely to delay the enforcement of Parker's death sentence.

This claim should or could have been raised on direct appeal, and is initially barred, because it was not so raised (R 526 So.2d 909 666). Bush; Blanco, supra. Doyle, (1988)Additionally, the essence of this claim, was raised Appellant's prior Rule 3.850 proceeding, under the label Challenges to the effectiveness of Parker's trial counsel. 640-653) There was considerable testimony on the issue of whether counsel Robert Makemson, had effectively represented Parker, in his preparation and presentation of Dr. Eddy at sentencing, (R; 64, 68, 69-80, 95-97, 155-156, 252-254, 285, 288). This Court, in affirming this Court's prior denial of Rule 3.850 relief, specifically found that defense counsel's representation at sentencing, amply met the effectiveness test in Strickland, supra. Parker, 542 So.2d, supra, at 357. Thus, because this

claim was raised and rejected on the merits at the prior Rule 3.850 motion, in a different form, it is barred from present consideration. Darden v. State, 496 So.2d 136 (Fla. 1986); Adams v. State, 484 So.2d 1216, 1218 (Fla. 1986); Christopher, 489 So.2d, at 24, 25; Rule 3.850, supra. Appellanmt claims that Dr. Eddy failed to fully investigate his character. This deficiency lead to an incomplete analysis of Appellant's mental health. Appellant relies heavily on Dr. Eddy's "failure" to investigate potential character witnesses including neighbors and teachers. This is the same claim leveled against Mr. Makemson in the prior motion for post-conviction relief. At the evidentiary hearing on Appellant's prior Rule 3.850 Mr. Makemson explained that he wanted Dr. Eddy to humanize Appellant and avoid an evaluation based on sociological factors (P 95-96). Makemson wanted to avoid reference to Appellant's past behavior in order to keep his prior record from the jury (P 68-69). Since this Court found such strategy to be sound, Parker, Dr. Eddy's performance was also competent as it was consistent with Makemson's strategy.

Assuming <u>arquendo</u> that Appellant's claim is a "new one", it clearly could or should have been raised, in the prior Rule 3.850 motion, and is barred on this basis as well. <u>Darden; Harich, supra</u>. Rule 3.850, <u>supra</u>, <u>Stewart v. State</u>, 495 So.2d 164 (Fla. 1986). Appellant was clearly aware of the factual premise for this claim at time of trial. Furthermore, the issuance of <u>Ake v. Oklahoma</u>, 470, U.S. 68 (1986), (upon which Appellant bases his claim), a full two years before Appellant's first motion,

completely bars this claim, as an abuse of Rule 3.850. Adams v. State, 543 So.2d 1244, 1249 (Fla. 1989). Appellant claims the procedural bar should be waived due to the failure of the State's Attorneys Office to provide access to their files. Appellant's request did not come until December 8, 1987, which is five days after he was to file his Rule 3.850 motion (R 195-207). Appellant fails to explain why he waited till then to seek access to the files. In any event Appellant had access to the transcripts including Dr. Eddy's testimony at least one month prior to his rule 3.850 deadline. Appellant's procedural bar is a direct result of his own doing or lack of and cannot be attributed to the State.

On the merits, this claim is clear "forum-shopping", because of Appellant's mere dissatisfaction with the results of his sentencing phase. Appellant's allegations of incompetency levelled against Dr. Paul Eddy are no more than an expression of dissatisfaction with Dr. Eddy's performance as a witness, at the sentencing phase. These claims are no more than a dilatory tactic aimed at endless delay of Parker's execution, until some doctor can be located who will produce results more favorable to Contrary to Appellant's contentions, a criminal Parker. defendant's entitlement to "competent" mental health experts does not mean entitlement to assistance of choice, or to assistance favorable to a particular defense, or particular that is mitigating factors. Ake, supra; Elledge v. Dugger, 283 F.2d 1439, 1447, n-17, and cases cited (11th Cir. 1987), modified on other grounds, 833 F.2d 200 (11th Cir. 1988); Martin v. Wainwright, 770 F.2d 918, 934-935 (11th Cir. 1985); James v. State, 489 So.2d 737 (Fla. 1986). Ake was not violated in this case, merely because a defense oriented doctor, provides a more favorable conclusion almost seven years after Parker's trial and sentencing.

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